
AGENDA
GREATER THETFORD DEVELOPMENT PARTNERSHIP 

COMMUNITY SUB-GROUP

Date & Time – Wednesday 11 January 2017 at 
7.00pm

Venue – Charles Burrell Centre, Staniforth 
Road, Thetford, IP24 3LH

1. GREATER THETFORD DEVELOPMENT PARTNERSHIP (GTDP) 
COMMUNITY SUB-GROUP

2 - 11

Public Document Pack



GTDP Community Sub-Group Meeting
Wednesday 11th January 2017, 7–9pm,

Charles Burrell Centre, Staniforth Road, Thetford, IP24 3LH

Agenda

1. Introductions

2. Public Questions
Up to 15 minutes for questions and comments from members of the public.

3. Approval of Minutes
Approval of the minutes from the previous Sub-Group meeting of November 30th.

4. Announcements & Matters Arising
Announcements from the Chair; Matters arising from the minutes not covered in another item.

5. Thetford Enterprise Park and Sustainable Urban Expansion Updates

6. Items for Discussion
Main items for public discussion and input. See separate papers for background information.

(a) Recommendation to the GTDP Board for its Strategic Objectives in the areas of community
aspiration and public engagement.

(b) Ideas for local projects and schemes to recommend to the GTDP Board.

7. Items to Note
Other items of public interest, which there will not necessarily to time to discuss at this meeting.

(a) Thetford Town Council By-Election for Castle Ward (election date: 12th January)
https://breckland.gov.uk/article/3615

(b) Consultation by the Forestry Commission on the introduction of parking charges and/or
removal of toilets from St Helen’s Picnic Site (response deadline: 15th January)
https://dialogue.forestry.gov.uk/st-helens-picnic-site-consultation

(c) Budget Consultation by Breckland District Council (response deadline: 22nd January)
https://breckland.gov.uk/article/4049

8. Any Other Business

Members of the public are encouraged to attend and participate at the meeting. In addition to the time
for public questions, members of the public have the opportunity to contribute during the remainder
of the meeting at the invitation of the Chair. For more details and papers see
http://robert.mathmos.net/gtdp/community-subgroup/.

2

Agenda Item 1

https://breckland.gov.uk/article/3615
https://dialogue.forestry.gov.uk/st-helens-picnic-site-consultation
https://breckland.gov.uk/article/4049
http://robert.mathmos.net/gtdp/community-subgroup/


Date: 30 November 2016
MINUTES Time:  19:00

Meeting Title: GTDP Community 
Sub-Group

Type of Meeting: Monthly

Chair: Robert Whittaker Note / Minute 
Taker:

Helen McAleer 

Attendees: Robert Whittaker, Roy Brame, Andy Cruse, Corinne Fulford, Diana 
Goucher, Rae Herries, Doug Stephen

Apologies:

Notes and Discussion points:
Actions

1. INTRODUCTIONS

The Chairman welcomed everyone to the meeting and explained the 
purpose of the Greater Thetford Development Partnership Board and its 
three Sub-Groups.  

Members introduced themselves. 

Also present at the invitation of the Chairman were: 

Ian Parkes, Norfolk County Council Highways
Riana Rudland Breckland Council Place Manager (representing 
Robert Walker, Executive Director Place)

2. PUBLIC QUESTIONS

The Chairman had received an e-mail from Stuart Wright (Thetford Town 
Councillor) raising concerns about:

a) Electronic information screen at the bus station;
b) Insufficient railway station parking; and
c) Walking/cycling routes in Thetford

These items would be picked up at a future meeting.  If Stuart agreed the 
e-mail would be attached to the Minutes.

The Chairman asked people to contact him with any items for inclusion 
on future agendas.

There was some discussion about the railway station parking problems 
and whether it was a matter for the GTDP or for NCC and Thetford Town 
Council.  It was agreed that it should be a future agenda item as the 
problems were likely to increase with future growth in the town.

3. APPROVAL OF MINUTES

The following amendments were made:

Attendees: Spelling amended for Doug Stephen and Corinne Fulford

Page 4 penultimate paragraph: replace ‘A board member’ with a sub-
group member

Page 5 first sentence: Projects group will be invited ‘to attend’ this group.

Page 5 paragraph below Actions: should refer to a ‘play area’ not a ‘park’.  

3



Final sentence should say ‘would look into providing seating there’.  It 
was noted that the Planning & Projects sub-group had been cancelled.

Subject to those amendments the Minutes of the meeting held on 17 
October 2016 were agreed.

A request was made that the Minutes should be published earlier and 
sent round to Members by e-mail.

4. ANNOUNCEMENTS & MATTERS ARISING

The Chairman had encountered some problems getting information to 
answer people’s questions.  He hoped for better dissemination of 
information in future. 

At the Board meeting on 21 October he had raised two issues from the 
sub-group.  The Board had agreed that as far as possible agendas would 
be published one week before meetings and Minutes would be published 
two weeks after meetings.  All sub-group members would be allowed 
access to all Board papers and items would only be confidential when 
absolutely necessary.  When such items were discussed the Minutes 
would include a summary of the discussion.

The GTDP website was run by Breckland Council and three members of 
the sub-group had had a very productive meeting with the Council’s 
Communications Team.  However, due to IT problems with the website’s 
software provider there had been little progress to date.

Action:  Seek update from the Digital & Customer Access Manager 
for next meeting.
A member of the public had raised a question about services through 
Joe Blunt’s lane for the Thetford Sustainable Urban Extension (SUE).  
That person had been contacted directly by an Officer of the Council but 
Members wanted to know what had been said.

Action:  Get details of the response provided from Mike Brennan
Members requested that they should be copied in on the answer to all 
public questions raised in future.  In this instance there was concern that 
the services would not fit down the lane due to its narrow width.  A 
question had also been raised about the health provision for the SUE 
and Members felt that dental and education provision also needed to be 
looked at.

Action:  The Chairman would raise the concerns with the Education 
representative on the GTDP.

Riana Rudland

Riana Rudland

Robert 
Whittaker

5. THETFORD ENTERPRISE PARK AND SUSTANABLE URBAN 
EXPANSION UPDATES

The Thetford Enterprise Park (TEP) was on land off Mundford Road 
which had no road access, no electricity and no sewerage system.  It was 
expected to reach the planning stage shortly.

Information had been requested about the facilities to be provided in the 
S106 legal agreement for the SUE.  It was noted that there would be 
money for NCC to provide school and library facilities and for BDC for 
waste collection.  No S106 monies were allocated to the Parishes.

4



6. ITEMS FOR DISCUSSION

a) Thetford Signange. 

Ian Parkes explained that a consultation on future provision of 
signage was on-going and he encouraged people to respond to it.  
BDC and NCC officers had met in relation to the Riverside 
development.  They agreed that existing signage was not good 
enough.  Money was available to provide improved car park signage 
and pedestrian signage in the town centre.  NCC had given a 
presentation to the Board on 21 October and discussed the 
consultation method to be used.  Key stake holders would be written 
to.  The plans were just the starting point and feedback was 
welcomed from those with local knowledge to ensure that the project 
was as good as it could be.
The Chairman confirmed that the Board had received two detailed 
reports which had been sent to all District and Town and Parish 
Councillors.  The Board had given some feedback.  He hoped the 
sub-group could agree a formal response to the consultation.  He 
asked people to e-mail him.  The consultation closed on 18 
December.

Action:  The Chairman would collate comments he received to 
provide a formal response from the Group to the consultation.

It was pointed out that the Town had major traffic problems.  Mr 
Parkes explained that the signage was the first project and then next 
year general access to the town would be looked at.
In response to a question it was confirmed that the signs were mainly 
aimed at tourists and visitors to the town and would direct them to the 
larger car parks.
The subject of tourist buses was raised.  Currently private coach 
companies and some school buses were using the car park outside 
The Chase which was earmarked for cars only in the plan.  That was 
not ideal as it was difficult to cross the road there and there was no 
lighting in the car park.  It was confirmed that coach companies and 
private excursion firms could use the new bus station as long as they 
provided NCC with a schedule in advance.
The Chairman noted that there were two further studies on traffic 
flows and car parking underway.  Breckland Council had also 
commissioned a report to ascertain current usage and future options.  
It was confirmed that BDC had no intention of introducing charging for 
car parking other than where the Town Council requested it (as had 
happened in Attleborough).  The study was simply looking at the 
levels of use and the capacity available.

The Chairman thanked Mr Parkes for attending the meeting.

b) King Street Square
This item had been added to the agenda following concerns raised at 
the previous meeting.  The Town Council had been invited to send a 
representative to update the sub-group, but they had only provided 
some Minute extracts dating back to 2014 explaining some of the 
problems.

Robert 
Whittaker

5



Ms Fulford had provided some newspaper articles from before 2014.
The background to the project was explained.  Money had been 
provided by Moving Thetford Forward (MTF).  The Town Council had 
approved the project and NCC had implemented it.  Since then there 
had been problems with the clock and water features.
The Chairman was disappointed with the information that had been 
provided which did not include any details about why the clock and 
water feature were not working.
Mr Brame suggested that the matter should be referred to the GTDP 
as it had replaced MTF and they should be asked for more money.  
The project was not a priority for the Town Council as there was no 
funding available at the moment.  It was part of the Town Council’s 
future development plans for the town centre.  He personally thought 
that the clock and water feature had never been fit for purpose and he 
was pursuing a legal route to find a remedy and therefore he could 
say no more.
Ms Fulford was able to give more details of the project with was 
initiated by MTF in 2011.  The project was led by the Town Manager 
and work was assigned to NCC who submitted a planning application 
for the works in April 2012 which was approved.  There had been no 
feedback to the Town Council until after the work was done.  Regular 
meetings had been held, but no minutes had been produced.  There 
had always been at least one Councillor and the Town Manager 
present at the meetings, but there had been no feed back to the 
whole Town Council.  The project had been signed off without full 
Town Council knowledge.  The clock and water feature problems had 
never been dealt with.  A lot of money public money had been spent 
on the project and it was wrong that no-one had been held to account.
A former MTF Board Member in the audience agreed that mistakes 
had been made.  The project had gone over-budget and money from 
another project to enhance shop fronts in the high street had been 
used to pay the deficit.  He suggested that it was too late to hold an 
enquiry into what had gone wrong and it would be better to 
concentrate on making some small scale adjustments to improve the 
town centre.
A member of the public had managed to get details of why the clock 
did not work.  The stone housing which held the clock electrics had 
not been waterproofed as the specification had not been written 
properly.
After some discussion about who was to blame it was agreed that 
lessons had been learned and it was best to move forward and try to 
get the problems resolved.
Various suggestions were made about ways to improve the Square, 
including removing the water feature which would allow the 
Remembrance Day parade to march down King Street again (which is 
was currently unable to do, due to lack of room).
The Chairman agreed to take the matter to the next Board meeting in 
February.  He had also requested further information about the MTF 
money in a Freedom of Information request to BDC.

Action:  Chairman to raise the matter at next GTDP Meeting. Robert 
Whittaker

7. ITEMS TO NOTE

a) It was clarified that the Election was for Castle Ward only.

6



b) The Consultation by the PCC concerned the precept and people were 
encouraged to respond to it

c) People were also encourage to respond to the Forestry Commission 
consultation re parking charges

d) Additional information on the current position with the Cottage 
Hospital had been circulated.  The sub-group was asked to request 
that the GTDP encouraged Breckland to take action and to negotiate 
with the owner.

Mr Brame suggested that the final item had been added to the agenda for 
political reasons.  That suggestion was hotly refuted by the person who 
had circulated the information.  He said that it was not political; the 
Thetford Society was trying to bring the building back into use.

A petition would be presented to the January Breckland full Council 
meeting to debate the matter.

Mr Brame confirmed that he was happy to accept the issues as a future 
sub-group agenda item.

The Chairman asked Members to keep politics out of future discussions.  
He would keep the matter under review until it had been considered by 
BDC.

8. ANY OTHER BUSINESS

Mr Cruse said that the Riverside Development looked very good at night 
as it was nicely lit.

Mrs Goucher was concerned that there were too many geese and they 
would spoil the grassed area.  Ms Fulford suggested that a representative 
from the British Trust for Ornithology should be invited to attend.

9. DATES FOR NEXT MEETINGS

The next meeting would be held on 11 January 2017.  Venue to be 
confirmed.

7



Chairman’s Notes
Robert Whittaker

GTDP Community Sub-Group Meeting, 11th January 2017

1 GTDP Board Meetings

In my role as a GTDP Board Member, I attended a private workshop on Friday 16th
December. (This meeting replaced the regular public Board meeting that was originally
scheduled for that date.) The workshop was concerned with setting the Board’s vision
and objectives. We had a very productive session, and have made good progress towards
setting a positive vision for Thetford that all the Board members can sign up to. A further
private workshop will be held on 20th January to complete the process, with the aim of
the outcomes being reported at the next Board meeting on 17th February.

As part of this process, various board members were asked to propose strategic objectives
in their areas of expertise. As the Chair of the Community Sub-Group I was tasked with
proposing objectives in the areas of community aspirations and public engagement. For
further details see the paper on this agenda item.

2 GTDP Website Improvements

The GTDP website at http://www.gtdp.org.uk/ is managed by Breckland Council on
behalf of the Board. Various improvements were discussed and agreed between representa-
tives of the Council and the Community Sub-Group in October 2016. However, progress
on implementing these improvements has been slow. Initially Breckland had technical
issues with accessing the site, but we were told that these had been fixed at the last Sub-
Group Meeting on 30th November. However, at the time of writing, it appears that many
of the agreed changes have still not been made. I hope that there will be an update from
Breckland Council at the meeting.

3 Answers to Public Questions

Various issues have been raised by the public at previous Sub-Group meetings, and we
have attempted to investigate and provide answers.

Services along Joe Blunt’s Lane. At the Sub-Group meeting of 17th October 2016, a
member of the public raised a query over the routing of utility services for the SUE
along Joe Blunt’s lane, given the presence of roots from protected mature trees. The
member of public has been contacted individually about this matter. Despite several
requests to Breckland Council, I have yet to receive any details of the resolution to
publish here for anyone else who may be interested. Hopefully, the Breckland Council
representative will be able to provide the information at the meeting.

SUE Green Energy Provision. At the Sub-Group meeting of 17th October 2016, a
question was asked concerning plans for green energy provision as part of the Sus-

1

8

http://www.gtdp.org.uk/


tainable Urban Expansion. I have been informed that there are no specific provisions
in this area.

Future Health Provision. At the Sub-Group meeting of 17th October 2016, a query
was raised over health provision (specifically GPs and NHS dentists) in Thetford,
and how this will be increased to meet demand as the expansion occurs. I made
enquires about this prior to the previous Sub-Group meeting, but had not received
any concrete information by then. I have continued to chase this up.

I made FOI requests to the two GP surgeries (School Lane and Grove Lane) and the
NHS Dentist on Guildhall Street. The dental practice responded and told me that
currently have over 40,000 patients on their books and are at capacity with no room
available to expand.

At the time of writing, the two GP surgeries had not provided substantive responses,
but did refer my enquiries back to the South Norfolk Clinical Commissioning Group.
The latter has provided me with some estimates of current provision and future
capacity, and also a copy of a (now out of date) “Statement of Need” dating from
2011 that was compiled as part of the planning process for the SUE development.

When the “Statement of Need” was written, there was spare capacity for a total
of around 7,500 patients between the two GP surgeries (sufficient for around 3,100
new houses), but no spare capacity at the single NHS dental practice in the town.
It is therefore odd that the S106 agreement between Breckland Council and the
developers included no additional dental provision in Phase 1 of the development.

The more up-to-date response I have from the South Norfolk Clinical Commissioning
Group suggests that the current GP premises are at capacity, though one of the two
surgeries has plans to expand its premises to allow it to take on an additional 4,000
patients. This would be sufficient for around 1,700 new houses, which would be
expected to cover the population growth until the middle of phase 2 of the SUE
development.

Based on my understanding of this information, it would appear that provision
within the SUE’s S106 agreement is insufficient for both Dental and GP services,
as the first health-care contributions from the developers are only scheduled to be
made at 80% occupancy of phase 2. (However, I have yet to get a definitive response
from NHS England on whether any there are any independent plans to expand
NHS dental provision, so it is possible there are already plans to meet the increased
demand that the initial SUE phases will bring.) It seems likely that action will be
needed to increase provision before the funding from the SUE developers is released.

Future Education Provision At the Sub-Group meeting of 30th November 2016, query
was raised over education provision (specifically primary school places) in Thetford.
Members of the public noted that current schools appeared to be at capacity, and
yet new provision within the SUE plans was not scheduled to be available until later
phases of the development.

I have been in contact with the GTDP Board’s Education representative Chris Hey,
who is Head of Place Planning and Organisation for the Education & Learning
department in Norfolk County Council. I understand there are some provision as-
sessments currently ongoing, but Mr Hey has suggested that he might be able to
attend a future Sub-Group meeting once these are complete in order to directly
answer people’s questions.

2

9



Bus Interchange use by Private/Tour Coaches. At the Sub-Group meeting of 30th
November 2016, a query was raised over whether or not coaches used for private
tours and trips were able to make use of the new Thetford Bus Interchange. Sub-
Group member Roy Brame has now confirmed with Norfolk County Council (who
own/manage the interchange site) that such use is permitted, but operators need to
inform the Council of their intended use in advance. The contact at the Council for
this is Helen Underwood.

4 Car Parking and Pedestrian Signage Consultation

Following the discussion at the Sub-Group’s previous meeting, I compiled a response
to Norfolk County Council’s consultation on behalf of the Sub-Group. This was then
approved and submitted by the GTDP Board’s Chairman. Hopefully this response will
be published on the Board’s website.

5 King Street Square

The issues with King Street Square were a major topic of discussion at the previous
Sub-Group meeting. Since then, I have had confirmation from Breckland Council (in the
form of an official MTF offer letter) that the funding from Moving Thetford Forward was
paid directly to Norfolk County Council to implement the scheme, though Thetford Town
Council did have a significant role as the “Lead Organisation” for the project.

I have also received a number of plans and other project documents in response to a
Freedom of Information request to Norfolk County Council. These should provide useful
additional background information, and also may be useful in determining whether or not
the current problems with the clock and water feature are due to design or implementation
faults. These documents can be viewed online at https://www.whatdotheyknow.com/

request/king_street_square_thetford.

3

10

https://www.whatdotheyknow.com/request/king_street_square_thetford
https://www.whatdotheyknow.com/request/king_street_square_thetford


Items for Discussion
GTDP Community Sub-Group Meeting, 11th January 2017

(a) GTDP Strategic Objectives

Following a private workshop of GTDP Board members, various board members were
asked to propose ‘strategic objectives’ for the Board in their areas of expertise. The
Community Sub-Group, through its chair, was tasked with proposing objectives in the
areas of community aspirations and public engagement. We need to have one or more
objectives to propose at a further private workshop scheduled for 20th January.

The objective-setting was facilitated by each member present being asked to suggest dif-
ferent issues and opportunities facing the Greater Thetford area. These were then grouped
into various themes to form the basis of different objectives. The issues and opportunities
in the “community” theme fell into two slightly different groups:

• Youth: 25% of Thetford under
16 years

• Low aspiration

• Community Spirit

• Publicity

• Lack of information availability to the public

• Lack of effective public engagement

• Community involvement

In view of these two groups, perhaps we need to propose two objectives: one around
community spirit and raising aspirations, and one around information provision and public
engagement.

The Sub-Group might also want to consider if it has any views, from a community point of
view, on the Board’s objectives in other areas. These areas might include: Growth, Regen-
eration and Employment; Amenities and Recreation; Education and skills; Cooperation
between GTDP partner organisations; Housing; Health; and Transport.

(b) Projects and Schemes to Promote to the GTDP Board

The GTDP Board is looking for some significant projects and schemes it can champion
and support for the benefit of Thetford. The community sub-group, in particular, has
been asked for suggestions of things that could be considered. While there is no specific
funding available at the moment, it is possible that money could be found/raised for the
right projects. It is also worth considering whether we think the Board should promote
larger projects that would have most benefit, but could take longer to realise; or (perhaps
a number of) smaller projects that could be completed more quickly with less outlay
required.

1

11


	Agenda
	1 Agenda
	Minutes - 30 November 2016
	4-chairmans-notes
	GTDP Board Meetings
	GTDP Website Improvements
	Answers to Public Questions
	Car Parking and Pedestrian Signage Consultation
	King Street Square

	6-items-for-discussion


